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These model accounts are illustrative only, contain general information, are not intended to be comprehensive and may not 
address specific events or circumstances. We make no representation as to their accuracy, compatibility or fitness-for-
purpose. 
 
The model accounts should be viewed as broad guidance only. Accordingly, neither RSM International Limited, nor any of 
its member firms accept any responsibility to any party for any loss, damage or costs howsoever arising, whether directly or 
indirectly, from any action or decision taken (or not taken) in reliance on the material in these model accounts, whether such 
loss is caused by negligence or otherwise. The provision of these model accounts does not constitute professional advice. 
Please contact your local RSM adviser to discuss these matters in the context of your particular circumstances. 
 
RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent 
accounting and consulting firm each of which practices in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity 
of any description in any jurisdiction. The RSM network is administered by RSM International Limited, a company registered 
in England and Wales (company number 4040598) whose registered office is at 50 Cannon Street, London EC4N 6JJ. The 
brand and trademark RSM and other related intellectual property rights used by members of the network are owned by RSM 
International Association, an association governed by article 60 et seq of the Civil Code of Switzerland whose seat is in Zug. 
Copyright of this material is owned by RSM International Limited. 2022  
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General information 
  
The financial statements cover RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of RSM 
IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The financial 
statements are presented in Internationaland currency units, which is RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited's 
functional and presentation currency. 
  
RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 
Internationaland. Its registered office and principal place of business are: 
  
Registered office  Principal place of business 
   
10th Floor  5th Floor 
Universal Administration Building  RSM Business Centre 
12 Highland Street  247 Edward Street 
Cityville  Cityville 
  
During the financial year the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consisted of exploration, development 
and production activities at the consolidated entity’s mining tenements predominately situated in Internationaland. 
  
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 24 February 2023. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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    Consolidated 
  Note  2022  2021 
    CU'000  CU'000 
       

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

2 

Revenue from continuing operations  4  442,127   411,854  
  
Share of profits of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method  5  3,211   2,661  
Other income  6  692   1,692  
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method    1,057   531  
Net gain on derecognition of financial assets at amortised cost    50   -   
  
Expenses       
Changes in inventories    (3,379)  (706) 
Raw materials and consumables used    (40,656)  (38,742) 
Employee benefits expense    (84,978)  (80,871) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  7  (51,963)  (52,060) 
Impairment of mining development  7  (500)  -   
Impairment of receivables    (491)  (432) 
Net fair value loss on investment properties  7  (600)  -   
Mining expenses    (132,256)  (129,822) 
Processing expenses    (48,620)  (46,601) 
Royalty expenses    (17,526)  (16,331) 
Management fees    (8,858)  (8,243) 
Other expenses    (2,136)  (2,225) 
Finance costs  7  (18,930)  (21,092) 
  
Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations    36,244   19,613  
  
Income tax expense  8  (10,114)  (5,178) 
  
Profit after income tax expense from continuing operations    26,130   14,435  
       
Profit after income tax expense from discontinued operations  9  1,138   1,314  
  
Profit after income tax expense for the year    27,268   15,749  
  
Other comprehensive income       
       
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Gain on the revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax    -    1,400  
Gain on the revaluation of equity instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, net of tax 

 
 

 
35  

 
-   

       
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss, net of tax    -    (2) 
Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory in the statement of financial position, net 
of tax 

 
 

 
(3) 

 
(7) 

Net change in the fair value of cash flow hedges taken to equity, net of tax    (7)  (18) 
Foreign currency translation    (257)  (218) 
Derecognition of foreign currency reserve    769   -   
       
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    537   1,155  
       
Total comprehensive income for the year    27,805   16,904  
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    Consolidated 
  Note  2022  2021 
    CU'000  CU'000 
       

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

3 

Profit for the year is attributable to:       
Non-controlling interest    142   229  
Owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited  45  27,126   15,520  
       
    27,268   15,749  
  
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:       
Continuing operations    142   369  
Discontinued operations    -    -   
Non-controlling interest    142   369  
       
Continuing operations    26,525   15,221  
Discontinued operations    1,138   1,314  
Owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited    27,663   16,535  
       
    27,805   16,904  
  
    Cents  Cents 
       
Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to the 
owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Basic earnings per share  61  17.69  10.08 
Diluted earnings per share  61  17.64  10.09 
       
Earnings per share for profit from discontinued operations attributable to the 
owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Basic earnings per share  61  0.77  0.93 
Diluted earnings per share  61  0.77  0.92 
       
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed 
Exploration and Mining Limited 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Basic earnings per share  61  18.47  11.01 
Diluted earnings per share  61  18.41  11.02 
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    Consolidated 
  Note  2022  2021 
    CU'000  CU'000 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
4 

Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  10  26,136   5,346  
Trade and other receivables  11  13,003   11,991  
Contract assets  12  2,617   2,144  
Inventories  13  38,692   42,071  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  14  360   -   
Other  15  3,907   3,419  
    84,715   64,971  
Non-current assets classified as held for sale  16  6,000   -   
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale  17  -    2,343  
Total current assets    90,715   67,314  
       
Non-current assets       
Receivables  18  145   145  
Investments accounted for using the equity method  19  34,192   30,981  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  20  170   -   
Investment properties  21  46,900   47,500  
Property, plant and equipment  22  116,698   128,129  
Right-of-use assets  23  305,485   332,116  
Exploration and evaluation  24  1,462   1,321  
Mining  25  10,708   10,295  
Deferred tax  26  15,946   12,946  
Other  27  2,262   2,359  
Total non-current assets    533,968   565,792  
       
Total assets    624,683   633,106  
  
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  28  18,876   15,836  
Contract liabilities  29  2,269   2,135  
Borrowings  30  4,500   3,273  
Lease liabilities  31  22,072   20,905  
Derivative financial instruments  32  122   107  
Income tax  33  7,095   2,547  
Employee benefits  34  3,584   3,877  
Provisions  35  290   -   
Other  36  2,083   1,831  
    60,891   50,511  
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale  37  4,000   2,163  
Total current liabilities    64,891   52,674  
       
Non-current liabilities       
Borrowings  38  18,978   18,967  
Lease liabilities  39  301,714   322,745  
Deferred tax  40  4,317   4,152  
Employee benefits  41  6,318   6,528  
Provisions  42  14,889   13,161  
Total non-current liabilities    346,216   365,553  
       
Total liabilities    411,107   418,227  
  



RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 
Statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2022 
 

  
    Consolidated 
  Note  2022  2021 
    CU'000  CU'000 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Net assets    213,576   214,879  
  
Equity       
Issued capital  43  182,953   182,678  
Reserves  44  4,045   3,508  
Retained profits  45  9,215   11,472  
Equity attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited    196,213   197,658  
Non-controlling interest  46  17,363   17,221  
       
Total equity    213,576   214,879  
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Issued 
 

  
 

Retained 
 Non-

controlling 
 

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  interest  
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
           
Balance at 1 January 2021  104,922  2,493  13,568  16,852  137,835 
           
Profit after income tax expense for the year  -  -  15,520  229  15,749 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax 

 
- 

 
1,015 

 
- 

 
140 

 
1,155 

           
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  1,015  15,520  369  16,904 
           
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 43) 

 
77,756 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
77,756 

Dividends paid (note 47)  -  -  (17,616)  -  (17,616) 
           
Balance at 31 December 2021  182,678  3,508  11,472  17,221  214,879 
  

 
 

Issued 
 

  
 

Retained 
 Non-

controlling 
 

Total equity   capital  Reserves  profits  interest  
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
           
Balance at 1 January 2022  182,678  3,508  11,472  17,221  214,879 
           
Profit after income tax expense for the year  -  -  27,126  142  27,268 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax 

 
- 

 
537 

 
- 

 
- 

 
537 

           
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  537  27,126  142  27,805 
           
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 43) 

 
25 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
25 

Share-based payments (note 62)  250  -  -  -  250 
Dividends paid (note 47)  -  -  (29,383)  -  (29,383) 
           
Balance at 31 December 2022  182,953  4,045  9,215  17,363  213,576 
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    Consolidated 
  Note  2022  2021 
    CU'000  CU'000 
       

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers    507,675   474,937  
Payments to suppliers and employees    (401,934)  (390,936) 
       
    105,741   84,001  
Interest received    1,084   540  
Other revenue    3,964   3,358  
Interest and other finance costs paid    (18,845)  (21,030) 
Income taxes paid    (9,172)  (8,461) 
       
Net cash from operating activities    82,772   58,408  
  
Cash flows from investing activities       
Payments for investments    (510)  -   
Payments for property, plant and equipment    (12,275)  (3,048) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation    (141)  (260) 
Payments for mining development    (1,517)  -   
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary    41   -   
Proceeds from sale of investments    80   -   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    1,511   250  
Proceeds from release of security deposits    155   -   
       
Net cash used in investing activities    (12,656)  (3,058) 
  
Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from issue of shares    25   78,750  
Proceeds from borrowings    12,000   -   
Share issue transaction costs    -    (1,420) 
Dividends paid  47  (29,383)  (17,616) 
Repayment of borrowings    (5,500)  (94,000) 
Repayment of lease liabilities    (25,385)  (21,555) 
       
Net cash used in financing activities    (48,243)  (55,841) 
  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    21,873   (491) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    4,251   4,734  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    12   8  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  10  26,136   4,251  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ('IFRS'), as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. 
  
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial 
instruments. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration 
and Mining Limited ('company' or 'parent entity') as at 31 December 2022 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then 
ended. RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial 
statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity. 
  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable 
to the parent. 
  
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the consolidated entity. 
Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit 
balance. 
  
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The 
consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
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Operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 
  
Foreign currency translation 
The financial statements are presented in Internationaland currency units, which is RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited's functional and presentation currency. 
  
Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Internationaland currency units using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Internationaland currency units using the exchange rates 
at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Internationaland currency units 
using the average exchange rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting 
foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 
  
The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of. 
  
Revenue recognition 
The consolidated entity recognises revenue as follows: 
  
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the consolidated entity is expected to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the consolidated entity: 
identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price 
which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to 
the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to 
be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the 
transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 
  
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as discounts, 
rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent events. Such estimates 
are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The measurement of variable consideration 
is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject 
to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability. 
  
Sale of copper and other metals 
Sale of copper and other metals is recognised at the point of sale, which is where the customer has taken delivery of the 
goods, the risks and rewards are transferred to the customer and there is a valid sales contract. Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are net of sales returns and trade discounts. 
  
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Rent 
Rent revenue from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised as part of the rental revenue. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the period when earned. 
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Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
●  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

●  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the 
timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
  
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
  
Discontinued operations 
A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale 
and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan 
to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The 
results of discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
  
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; 
it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash 
and cash equivalents also includes bank overdrafts, which are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position. 
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Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 
days. 
  
The consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days 
overdue. 
  
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
  
Contract assets 
Contract assets are recognised when the consolidated entity has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 
the consolidated entity is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 
assets for impairment purposes. 
  
Customer acquisition costs 
Customer acquisition costs are capitalised as an asset where such costs are incremental to obtaining a contract with a 
customer and are expected to be recovered. Customer acquisition costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the contract. 
  
Costs to obtain a contract that would have been incurred regardless of whether the contract was obtained or which are not 
otherwise recoverable from a customer are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract 
where the contract term is less than one year is immediately expensed to profit or loss. 
  
Customer fulfilment costs 
Customer fulfilment costs are capitalised as an asset when all the following are met: (i) the costs relate directly to the contract 
or specifically identifiable proposed contract; (ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the consolidated entity that will 
be used to satisfy future performance obligations; and (iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. Customer fulfilment costs 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. 
  
Right of return assets 
Right of return assets represents the right to recover inventory sold to customers and is based on an estimate of customers 
who may exercise their right to return the goods and claim a refund. Such rights are measured at the value at which the 
inventory was previously carried prior to sale, less expected recovery costs and any impairment. 
  
Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a 'first in first out' basis. Cost comprises direct materials 
and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead 
expenditure based on normal operating capacity, and, where applicable, transfers from cash flow hedging reserves in equity. 
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts received or receivable. 
 
Cost is determined on the following basis:  
(a) Copper and other metals on hand is valued on an average total production cost method 
(b) Ore stockpiles are valued at the average cost of mining and stockpiling the ore, including haulage  
(c) A proportion of related depreciation and amortisation charge is included in the cost of inventory 
  
Stock in transit is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of purchase and delivery costs, net of 
rebates and discounts received or receivable. 
  
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Derivative financial instruments 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
  
Cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges are used to cover the consolidated entity's exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to 
particular risks associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which could affect profit or loss. The 
effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income through the cash 
flow hedges reserve in equity, whilst the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity are 
transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs. 
  
Cash flow hedges are tested for effectiveness on a regular basis both retrospectively and prospectively to ensure that each 
hedge is highly effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge. If the forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the amounts recognised in equity are transferred to profit or loss. 
  
If the hedging instrument is sold, terminated, expires, exercised without replacement or rollover, or if the hedge becomes 
ineffective and is no longer a designated hedge, the amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs. 
  
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 
Non-current assets and assets of disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use. They are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs of disposal. For non-current assets or assets of disposal groups to be classified as held for 
sale, they must be available for immediate sale in their present condition and their sale must be highly probable. 
  
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the non-current assets and assets of disposal 
groups to fair value less costs of disposal. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs of 
disposal of a non-current assets and assets of disposal groups, but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. 
  
Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses 
attributable to the liabilities of assets held for sale continue to be recognised. 
  
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale are presented 
separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current assets. The liabilities of disposal groups classified as 
held for sale are presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current liabilities. 
  
Joint ventures 
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the share of the profits or losses of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss and the share of the movements in equity 
is recognised in other comprehensive income. Investments in joint ventures are carried in the statement of financial position 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the consolidated entity's share of net assets of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to 
the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for 
impairment. Income earned from joint venture entities reduce the carrying amount of the investment. 
  
Joint operations 
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The consolidated entity has recognised its share of 
jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations. These have been incorporated in the financial 
statements under the appropriate classifications. 
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Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such assets are subsequently measured at 
either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on both the business 
model within which such assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset unless an 
accounting mismatch is being avoided. 
  
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the 
consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is written off. 
  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be either: (i) held for trading, where 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) 
designated as such upon initial recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include equity investments which the consolidated entity 
intends to hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to classify them as such upon initial recognition. 
  
Impairment of financial assets 
The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon 
the consolidated entity's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without 
undue cost or effort to obtain. 
  
Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected credit 
loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset's lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable to a 
default event that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is 
determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected credit 
losses. The amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted present value of 
anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
  
For financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is 
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding expense through profit or loss. In all other cases, the loss 
allowance reduces the asset's carrying value with a corresponding expense through profit or loss. 
  
Investment properties 
Investment properties principally comprise of freehold land and buildings held for long-term rental and capital appreciation 
that are not occupied by the consolidated entity. Investment properties are initially recognised at cost, including transaction 
costs, and are subsequently remeasured annually at fair value. Movements in fair value are recognised directly to profit or 
loss. 
  
Investment properties are derecognised when disposed of or when there is no future economic benefit expected. 
  
Transfers to and from investment properties to property, plant and equipment are determined by a change in use of owner-
occupation. The fair value on the date of change of use from investment properties to property, plant and equipment are 
used as deemed cost for the subsequent accounting. The existing carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is used 
for the subsequent accounting cost of investment properties on the date of change of use. 
  
Investment properties also include properties under construction for future use as investment properties. These are carried 
at fair value, or at cost where fair value cannot be reliably determined and the construction is incomplete. 
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Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, at least every 3 years, valuations by external independent 
valuers, less subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken more frequently if there 
is a material change in the fair value relative to the carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the 
asset. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other comprehensive 
income through to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially taken in other 
comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve to the extent of any previous revaluation surplus of the 
same asset. Thereafter the decrements are taken to profit or loss. 
  
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
  
Buildings  40 years 
Leasehold improvements  3-10 years 
Plant and equipment  3-7 years 
  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
  
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, 
whichever is shorter. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 
  
Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 
  
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at 
the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
  
The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term 
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to 
profit or loss as incurred. 
  
Exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is carried 
forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through 
the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration activities are continuing in 
an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred 
thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made. 
  
Mining assets 
Capitalised mining development costs include expenditures incurred to develop new ore bodies to define further 
mineralisation in existing ore bodies, to expand the capacity of a mine and to maintain production. Mining development also 
includes costs transferred from exploration and evaluation phase once production commences in the area of interest. 
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Amortisation of mining development is computed by the units of production basis over the estimated proved and probable 
reserves. Proved and probable mineral reserves reflect estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves which can 
be recovered in the future from known mineral deposits. These reserves are amortised from the date on which production 
commences. The amortisation is calculated from recoverable proven and probable reserves and a predetermined percentage 
of the recoverable measured, indicated and inferred resource. This percentage is reviewed annually. 
  
Restoration costs expected to be incurred are provided for as part of development phase that give rise to the need for 
restoration. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit. 
  
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Contract liabilities 
Contract liabilities represent the consolidated entity's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are 
recognised when a customer pays consideration, or when the consolidated entity recognises a receivable to reflect its 
unconditional right to consideration (whichever is earlier) before the consolidated entity has transferred the goods or services 
to the customer. 
  
Refund liabilities 
Refund liabilities are recognised where the consolidated entity receives consideration from a customer and expects to refund 
some, or all, of that consideration to the customer. A refund liability is measured at the amount of consideration received or 
receivable for which the consolidated entity does not expect to be entitled and is updated at the end of each reporting period 
for changes in circumstances. Historical data is used across product lines to estimate such returns at the time of sale based 
on an expected value methodology. 
  
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
The component of the convertible notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement 
of financial position, net of transaction costs. 
  
On the issue of the convertible notes the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an 
equivalent non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a non-current liability on the amortised cost basis until 
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The increase in the liability due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost. The remainder of the proceeds are allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in shareholders 
equity as a convertible note reserve, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured 
in the subsequent years. The corresponding interest on convertible notes is expensed to profit or loss. 
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Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of 
fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is 
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 
is fully written down. 
  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
  
Employee benefits 
  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. 
  
Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
  
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Share-based payments 
Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 
  
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash 
is determined by reference to the share price. 
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The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine 
whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of 
any other vesting conditions. 
  
The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods. 
  
The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award was 
granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 
●  during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by the 

expired portion of the vesting period. 
●  from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 

reporting date. 
  
All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to 
settle the liability. 
  
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied. 
  
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 
  
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 
treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied 
during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the 
award is forfeited. 
  
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
  
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and transfers 
between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
  



RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2022 
 

  
Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

  

  
18 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not 
available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and 
reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is 
undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where 
applicable, with external sources of data. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
  
Dividends 
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the company. 
  
Business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. 
  
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit 
or loss. 
  
On the acquisition of a business, the consolidated entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the consolidated 
entity's operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date. 
  
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the consolidated entity remeasures its previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
  
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the 
acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value 
of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly 
in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement 
of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer's 
previously held equity interest in the acquirer. 
  
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional 
amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based on new 
information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement period ends 
on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the information 
possible to determine fair value. 
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Earnings per share 
  
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and 
Mining Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
financial year. 
  
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
  
Value-Added Tax ('VAT') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated VAT, unless the VAT incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of VAT receivable or payable. The net amount of VAT 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  
Rounding of amounts 
Amounts in this report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand currency units, or in certain cases, the nearest currency 
unit. 
  
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
Accounting Standards that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted 
by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2022. The consolidated entity has not yet 
assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 
  
Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, 
on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services 
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. Other than as 
addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements 
or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity unfavourably 
as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
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Share-based payment transactions 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-
Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
  
Revenue from contracts with customers involving sale of goods 
When recognising revenue in relation to the sale of goods to customers, the key performance obligation of the consolidated 
entity is considered to be the point of delivery of the goods to the customer, as this is deemed to be the time that the customer 
obtains control of the promised goods and therefore the benefits of unimpeded access. 
  
Determination of variable consideration 
Judgement is exercised in estimating variable consideration which is determined having regard to past experience with 
respect to the goods returned to the consolidated entity where the customer maintains a right of return pursuant to the 
customer contract or where goods or services have a variable component. Revenue will only be recognised to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised under the contract will 
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
  
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected credit 
loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience, historical collection rates, the impact of the 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and forward-looking information that is available. The allowance for expected credit 
losses, as disclosed in note 11, is calculated based on the information available at the time of preparation. The actual credit 
losses in future years may be higher or lower. 
  
Provision for impairment of inventories 
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. Costs incurred in or 
benefits of the productive process are accumulated as stockpiles, copper and other metals in process, ore on leach pads 
and product inventory. Net realisable value tests are performed at least annually and represent the estimated future sales 
price of the product based on prevailing metal prices, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to 
sale. 
 
Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the number contained 
metal ounces based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage based on the expected processing method. 
Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. 
 
Although the quantity of recoverable metal is reconciled by comparing the grades of the ore to the quantities of metals actually 
recovered (metallurgical balancing), the nature of the process inherently limits the ability to precisely monitor recoverability 
levels. As a result the metallurgical balancing process is constantly monitored and the engineering estimates are refined 
based on actual results over time. 
  
Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant 
to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
  
The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable 
inputs. 
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Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible 
assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular asset that may 
lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value 
less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 
 
It is reasonably possible that the underlying metal price assumption may change which may then impact the estimated life 
of mine determinant and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of mining plant and equipment, mining 
infrastructure and mining development assets. Furthermore, the expected future cash flows used to determine the value-in-
use of these assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a 
number of factors including reserves and production estimates, together with economic factors such as metal spot prices, 
discount rates, estimates of costs to produce reserves and future capital expenditure. 
  
Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
  
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
  
Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement 
is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying 
asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included 
in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors 
considered may include the importance of the asset to the consolidated entity's operations; comparison of terms and 
conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; 
and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in 
circumstances. 
  
Incremental borrowing rate 
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to discount 
future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a rate is 
based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 
  
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 
date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all 
employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases 
through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 
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Lease make good provision 
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 
includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions 
such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and 
updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that 
exceed the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Rehabilitation provision 
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future rehabilitation of land explored or mined. The 
consolidated entity's mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of 
the environment. The consolidated entity recognises management's best estimate for assets retirement obligations and site 
rehabilitations in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs incurred in the future periods could differ materially from 
the estimates. Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates 
could affect the carrying amount of this provision. 
  
Exploration and evaluation costs 
Exploration and evaluation costs have been capitalised on the basis that the consolidated entity will commence commercial 
production in the future, from which time the costs will be amortised in proportion to the depletion of the mineral resources. 
Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures directly related 
to these activities and allocating overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised. In addition, costs are only 
capitalised that are expected to be recovered either through successful development or sale of the relevant mining interest. 
Factors that could impact the future commercial production at the mine include the level of reserves and resources, future 
technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the 
extent that capitalised costs are determined not to be recoverable in the future, they will be written off in the period in which 
this determination is made. 
  
Note 3. Operating segments 
  
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The consolidated entity is organised into one operating segment, being mining and exploration operations. This operating 
segment is based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who are identified as the 
Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM')) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 
  
The CODM reviews EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation). The accounting policies adopted 
for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements. 
  
The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis. 
  
Types of products and services 
The principal products and services of this operating segment are the mining and exploration operations predominately in 
Internationaland. 
  
Major customers 
During the year ended 31 December 2022 approximately CU69,400,000 (2021: CU77,800,000) of the consolidated entity's 
external revenue was derived from sales to a major Internationaland copper exporter. 
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Geographical information 
  

 
 
Sales to external customers 

Geographical non-current 
assets 

  2022  2021  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Internationaland  438,433  408,496  179,882  192,376 
Neighbourland  24,621  23,487  -  - 
         
  463,054  431,983  179,882  192,376 
  
The geographical non-current assets above are exclusive of, where applicable, financial instruments, deferred tax assets, 
post-employment benefits assets and rights under insurance contracts. 
  
Note 4. Revenue 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
From continuing operations     
     
Revenue from contracts with customers     
Sale of copper  434,737   404,628  
Sale of other metals  3,696   3,868  
  438,433   408,496  
     
Other revenue     
Rent from investment properties  3,623   3,310  
Other revenue  71   48  
  3,694   3,358  
     
Revenue from continuing operations  442,127   411,854  
  
Disaggregation of revenue 
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Major product lines     
Copper grade 1  348,751   325,612  
Copper grade 2  85,986   79,016  
Other metals  3,696   3,868  
     
  438,433   408,496  
     
Geographical regions     
Internationaland  438,433   408,496  
     
Timing of revenue recognition     
Goods transferred at a point in time  438,433   408,496  
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Note 5. Share of profits of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Share of profit - joint ventures  3,211   2,661  
  
Note 6. Other income 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Net fair value gain on investment properties  -    1,500  
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  422   192  
Insurance recoveries  270   -   
     
Other income  692   1,692  
  
Note 7. Expenses 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses:     
     
Cost of sales     
Cost of sales  284,451   277,984  
     
Depreciation     
Leasehold improvements  5,000   5,405  
Plant and equipment  12,167   13,379  
Buildings right-of-use assets  13,582   13,582  
Plant and equipment right-of-use assets  18,570   17,468  
     
Total depreciation  49,319   49,834  
     
Amortisation     
Mining development  604   375  
Customer acquisition costs  1,288   1,164  
Customer fulfilment costs  752   687  
     
Total amortisation  2,644   2,226  
     
Total depreciation and amortisation  51,963   52,060  
     
Impairment     
Mining development  500   -   
     
Finance costs     
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on borrowings  1,799   3,021  
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on lease liabilities  17,046   18,009  
Unwinding of the discount on provisions  85   62  
     
Finance costs expensed  18,930   21,092  
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  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Net foreign exchange loss     
Net foreign exchange loss  13   6  
     
Net fair value loss     
Net fair value loss on investment properties  600   -   
     
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness     
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness  4   2  
     
Leases     
Variable lease payments  1,167   1,098  
Short-term lease payments  102   127  
Low-value assets lease payments  135   119  
     
  1,404   1,344  
     
Superannuation expense     
Defined contribution superannuation expense  18,089   17,629  
     
Share-based payments expense     
Share-based payments expense  253   1  
     
Research costs     
Research costs  124   107  
     
Write off of assets     
Inventories  538   112  
     
Expenses on investment properties     
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income  61   59  
Direct operating expenses from property that did not generate rental income  8   3  
     
Total expenses on investment properties  69   62  
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Note 8. Income tax expense 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Income tax expense     
Current tax  13,823   7,888  
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences  (2,845)  (2,147) 
Adjustment recognised for prior periods  (103)  -   
     
Aggregate income tax expense  10,875   5,741  
     
Income tax expense is attributable to:     
Profit from continuing operations  10,114   5,178  
Profit from discontinued operations  761   563  
     
Aggregate income tax expense  10,875   5,741  
     
Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:     
Increase in deferred tax assets (note 26)  (2,995)  (3,815) 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 40)  150   1,668  
     
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences  (2,845)  (2,147) 
     
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate     
Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations  36,244   19,613  
Profit before income tax expense from discontinued operations  1,899   1,877  
     
  38,143   21,490  
     
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%  11,443   6,447  
     
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:     

Entertainment expenses  32   41  
Impairment of mining development  150   -   
Share-based payments  75   -   
Share of profits - joint ventures  (963)  (798) 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary  191   -   
Sundry items  50   51  

     
  10,978   5,741  
Adjustment recognised for prior periods  (103)  -   
     
Income tax expense  10,875   5,741  
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Amounts charged/(credited) directly to equity     
Deferred tax assets (note 26)  (5)  (415) 
Deferred tax liabilities (note 40)  15   600  
     
  10   185  
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Note 9. Discontinued operations 
  
Description 
On [date] the consolidated entity sold RSM Wholesaling International Limited (incorporated in Neighbourland), a subsidiary 
of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited, for consideration of CU270,000 resulting in a loss on disposal before 
income tax of CU637,000. Whilst RSM Wholesaling International Limited was sufficiently profitable up to the date of sale, 
future losses were projected due to new regulations being introduced into Neighbourland. Also, its geographical isolation 
meant that it was difficult to incorporate into the consolidated entity's long term strategy and the directors decided to dispose 
of it. 
  
Financial performance information 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Sale of copper  24,621   23,487  
Interest received  30   12  
Total revenue  24,651   23,499  
     
Changes in inventories  (144)  (76) 
Raw materials and consumables used  (11,365)  (11,133) 
Employee benefits expense  (7,916)  (8,035) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (313)  (351) 
Other expenses  (2,377)  (2,027) 
Total expenses  (22,115)  (21,622) 
     
Profit before income tax expense  2,536   1,877  
Income tax expense  (761)  (563) 
     
Profit after income tax expense  1,775   1,314  
     
Loss on disposal before income tax  (637)  -   
Income tax expense  -    -   
     
Loss on disposal after income tax expense  (637)  -   
     
Profit after income tax expense from discontinued operations  1,138   1,314  
  
Cash flow information 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Net cash from operating activities  1,847   1,642  
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,836)  (1,604) 
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations  11   38  
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Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities disposed 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents  189   -   
Trade and other receivables  387   -   
Inventories  833   -   
Other current assets  28   -   
Property, plant and equipment  441   -   
Other non-current assets  46   -   
Total assets  1,924   -   
     
Trade and other payables  1,150   -   
Provisions  676   -   
Total liabilities  1,826   -   
     
Net assets  98   -   
  
Details of the disposal 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Total sale consideration  270   -   
Carrying amount of net assets disposed  (98)  -   
Derecognition of foreign currency reserve  (769)  -   
Disposal costs  (40)  -   
     
Loss on disposal before income tax  (637)  -   
     
Loss on disposal after income tax  (637)  -   
  
Note 10. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Cash on hand  104   93  
Cash at bank  14,132   4,853  
Cash on deposit  11,900   400  
     
  26,136   5,346  
     
Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     
The above figures are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows: 

 
 
 

 
     
Balances as above  26,136   5,346  
Cash and cash equivalents - classified as held for sale (note 17)  -    178  
Bank overdraft (note 30)  -    (1,273) 
     
Balance as per statement of cash flows  26,136   4,251  
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Note 11. Current assets - trade and other receivables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Trade receivables  13,998   12,818  
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses  (1,062)  (874) 
  12,936   11,944  
     
Other receivables  60   43  
Interest receivable  7   4  
     
  13,003   11,991  
  
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The consolidated entity has recognised a loss of CU491,000 in profit or loss in respect of the expected credit losses for the 
year ended 31 December 2022. 
  
The ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows: 
  

 
 

Expected credit loss rate Carrying amount 
Allowance for expected 

credit losses 
  2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021 
Consolidated  %  %  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
             
Not overdue  2%   1%   6,988  6,330  140  63 
0 to 3 months overdue  7%   5%   5,028  4,051  352  203 
3 to 6 months overdue  14%   10%   1,453  1,762  203  176 
Over 6 months overdue  50%   50%   734  863  367  432 
             
      14,203  13,006  1,062  874 
  
The consolidated entity has increased its monitoring of debt recovery as there is an increased probability of customers 
delaying payment or being unable to pay, due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. As a result, the calculation of 
expected credit losses has been revised as at 31 December 2022 and rates have increased in each category up to 6 months 
overdue. 
  
Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Opening balance  874   659  
Additional provisions recognised  491   432  
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  (287)  (209) 
Unused amounts reversed  (16)  (8) 
     
Closing balance  1,062   874  
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Note 12. Current assets - contract assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Contract assets  2,617   2,144  
     
Reconciliation     
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
     
Opening balance  2,144   2,511  
Additions  5,687   4,788  
Cumulative catch-up adjustments  1,531   1,374  
Transfer to trade receivables  (6,745)  (6,529) 
     
Closing balance  2,617   2,144  
  
Note 13. Current assets - inventories 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Ore stockpiles  6,817   6,081  
Copper on hand  30,040   31,434  
Other metals on hand  1,631   4,369  
Copper in transit  204   187  
     
  38,692   42,071  
  
Copper on hand as at 31 December 2022 has a net realisable value of CU68,691,000 (2021: CU89,901,000) measured at 
the spot rate of CU3.43 (2021: CU4.29). 
  
Note 14. Current assets - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Listed ordinary shares - designated at fair value through profit or loss  82   -   
Listed ordinary shares - held for trading  278   -   
     
  360   -   
     
Reconciliation     
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
     
Opening fair value  -    -   
Additions  310   -   
Revaluation increments  50   -   
     
Closing fair value  360   -   
  
Refer to note 49 for further information on fair value measurement. 
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Note 15. Current assets - other 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Prepayments  1,087   883  
Security deposits  60   30  
Customer acquisition costs  1,417   1,274  
Customer fulfilment costs  672   614  
Right of return assets  671   618  
     
  3,907   3,419  
  
Note 16. Current assets - non-current assets classified as held for sale 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Land  6,000   -   
  
The vacant land situated at 220 St Pauls Terrace, Fortune Valley is currently for sale and is expected to be sold within five 
months from the reporting date through an auction process. The proposed development of a head office building on the site 
has been abandoned and the land is now surplus to requirements. 
  
Note 17. Current assets - assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents  -    178  
Trade and other receivables  -    363  
Inventories  -    977  
Other current assets  -    25  
Property, plant and equipment  -    754  
Other non-current assets  -    46  
     
  -    2,343  
  
The assets identified above represents the assets of RSM Wholesaling International Limited (incorporated in Neighbourland), 
a subsidiary of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited, which was sold on [date]. Refer to note 9 for further 
information. 
  
Note 18. Non-current assets - receivables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Other receivables  145   145  
  
The other receivables are due to be repaid by 31 December 2025 and the effect of discounting is considered not to be 
material. This receivable is not past due nor impaired. 
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Note 19. Non-current assets - investments accounted for using the equity method 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Investment in joint ventures  34,192   30,981  
  
Refer to note 56 for further information on interests in joint ventures. 
  
Note 20. Non-current assets - financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Unlisted ordinary shares  170   -   
     
Reconciliation     
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
     
Opening fair value  -    -   
Additions  200   -   
Disposals  (80)  -   
Revaluation increments  50   -   
     
Closing fair value  170   -   
  
Refer to note 49 for further information on fair value measurement. 
  
Note 21. Non-current assets - investment properties 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Investment properties - at independent valuation  46,900   47,500  
     
Reconciliation     
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
     
Opening fair value  47,500   46,000  
Revaluation increments  -    1,500  
Revaluation decrements  (600)  -   
     
Closing fair value  46,900   47,500  
  
Refer to note 49 for further information on fair value measurement. 
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Lessor commitments 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Minimum lease commitments receivable but not recognised in the financial statements:     
1 year or less  3,723   3,580  
Between 1 and 2 years  3,872   3,723  
Between 2 and 3 years  4,027   3,872  
Between 3 and 4 years  4,188   4,027  
Between 4 and 5 years  4,356   4,188  
Over 5 years  14,140   18,496  
     
  34,306   37,886  
  
Note 22. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Land and buildings - at independent valuation  52,500   58,500  
     
Leasehold improvements - at cost  32,260   25,860  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (17,473)  (12,473) 
  14,787   13,387  
     
Plant and equipment - at cost  105,512   100,267  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (56,101)  (44,025) 
  49,411   56,242  
     
  116,698   128,129  
  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  
  Land and  Leasehold  Plant and   
  buildings  improvements  equipment  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Balance at 1 January 2021  56,500  17,478  69,050  143,028 
Additions  -  2,308  740  3,048 
Classified as held for sale (note 16)  -  (994)  (111)  (1,105) 
Disposals  -  -  (58)  (58) 
Revaluation increments  2,000  -  -  2,000 
Depreciation expense  -  (5,405)  (13,379)  (18,784) 
         
Balance at 31 December 2021  58,500  13,387  56,242  128,129 
Additions  -  6,400  6,425  12,825 
Classified as held for sale (note 16)  (6,000)  -  -  (6,000) 
Disposals  -  -  (1,089)  (1,089) 
Depreciation expense  -  (5,000)  (12,167)  (17,167) 
         
Balance at 31 December 2022  52,500  14,787  49,411  116,698 
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Refer to note 49 for further information on fair value measurement. 
  
Land and buildings stated under the historical cost convention 
If land and buildings were stated under the historical cost convention, the amounts would be as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Land and buildings - at cost  46,000   52,000  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (1,059)  (1,007) 
  44,941   50,993  
  
Note 23. Non-current assets - right-of-use assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Land and buildings - right-of-use  271,636   271,636  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (37,350)  (23,768) 
  234,286   247,868  
     
Plant and equipment - right-of-use  126,363   120,842  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (55,164)  (36,594) 
  71,199   84,248  
     
  305,485   332,116  
  
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were CU5,521,000. 
  
The consolidated entity leases land and buildings for its offices and has various mining tenement leases under agreements 
of between five to fifteen years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On 
renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. The consolidated entity also leases plant and equipment under agreements 
of between three to seven years. 
  
The consolidated entity leases office equipment under agreements of less than two years. These leases are either short-
term or low-value, so have been expensed as incurred and not capitalised as right-of-use assets. 
  
Note 24. Non-current assets - exploration and evaluation 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Exploration and evaluation - at cost  1,462   1,321  
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Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  

 
 Exploration 

and 
 

 
  evaluation  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Balance at 1 January 2021  1,061  1,061 
Additions  260  260 
     
Balance at 31 December 2021  1,321  1,321 
Additions  141  141 
     
Balance at 31 December 2022  1,462  1,462 
  
Note 25. Non-current assets - mining 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Mining development - at cost  13,332   11,815  
Less: Accumulated amortisation  (2,124)  (1,520) 
Less: Impairment  (500)  -   
     
  10,708   10,295  
  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  
  Mining   
  development  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Balance at 1 January 2021  10,670  10,670 
Amortisation expense  (375)  (375) 
     
Balance at 31 December 2021  10,295  10,295 
Additions  1,517  1,517 
Impairment of assets  (500)  (500) 
Amortisation expense  (604)  (604) 
     
Balance at 31 December 2022  10,708  10,708 
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Note 26. Non-current assets - deferred tax 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:     
     
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:     

Allowance for expected credit losses  296   247  
Property, plant and equipment  411   -   
Contract liabilities  681   641  
Employee benefits  2,971   3,299  
Leases  5,899   3,853  
Provision for legal claims  18   -   
Provision for lease make good  503   321  
Provision for rehabilitation  4,033   3,636  
Accrued expenses  531   278  
Refund liabilities  296   283  

     
  15,639   12,558  

     
Amounts recognised in equity:     

Transaction costs on share issue  270   356  
Derivative financial instruments  37   32  

     
  307   388  

     
Deferred tax asset  15,946   12,946  
     
Movements:     
Opening balance  12,946   8,716  
Credited to profit or loss (note 8)  2,995   3,815  
Credited to equity (note 8)  5   415  
     
Closing balance  15,946   12,946  
  
Note 27. Non-current assets - other 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Security deposits  1,214   1,399  
Customer acquisition costs  564   517  
Customer fulfilment costs  484   443  
     
  2,262   2,359  
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Note 28. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Trade payables  16,993   14,270  
Other payables  1,883   1,566  
     
  18,876   15,836  
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Note 29. Current liabilities - contract liabilities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Contract liabilities  2,269   2,135  
     
Reconciliation     
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
     
Opening balance  2,135   1,974  
Payments received in advance  1,441   1,473  
Cumulative catch-up adjustments  174   249  
Transfer to revenue - included in the opening balance  (1,141)  (1,236) 
Transfer to revenue - performance obligations satisfied in previous periods  (208)  (178) 
Transfer to revenue - other balances  (132)  (147) 
     
Closing balance  2,269   2,135  
  
Unsatisfied performance obligations 
The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the end of the 
reporting period was CU3,891,000 as at 31 December 2022 (CU3,507,000 as at 31 December 2021) and is expected to be 
recognised as revenue in future periods as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Within 6 months  1,482   1,344  
6 to 12 months  1,128   1,032  
12 to 18 months  874   817  
18 to 24 months  407   314  
     
  3,891   3,507  
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Note 30. Current liabilities - borrowings 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Bank overdraft  -    1,273  
Bank loans  4,500   2,000  
     
  4,500   3,273  
  
Refer to note 38 for further information on assets pledged as security and financing arrangements. 
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Note 31. Current liabilities - lease liabilities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Lease liability  22,072   20,905  
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Note 32. Current liabilities - derivative financial instruments 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges  122   107  
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
Refer to note 49 for further information on fair value measurement. 
  
Note 33. Current liabilities - income tax 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Provision for income tax  7,095   2,547  
  
Note 34. Current liabilities - employee benefits 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Employee benefits  3,584   3,877  
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Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
The current provision for employee benefits includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the 
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The 
entire amount is presented as current, since the consolidated entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. 
However, based on past experience, the consolidated entity does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued 
leave or require payment within the next 12 months. 
  
The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken within the next 12 months: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Employee benefits obligation expected to be settled after 12 months  1,603   1,292  
  
Note 35. Current liabilities - provisions 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Lease make good  230   -   
Legal claims  60   -   
     
  290   -   
  
Lease make good 
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the consolidated 
entity at the end of the respective lease terms. 
  
Legal claims 
The provision represents a claim by a customer in relation to the loss of productivity. This claim is expected to be settled in 
the next financial year and the outcome of this claim is not expected to exceed the amount provided for, based on 
independent legal advice. 
  
Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 
  
  Lease  Legal 
  make good  claims 
Consolidated - 2022  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Carrying amount at the start of the year  -  - 
Additional provisions recognised  -  60 
Amounts transferred from non-current  230  - 
     
Carrying amount at the end of the year  230  60 
  



RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2022 
 

  

  
40 

Note 36. Current liabilities - other 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Accrued expenses  1,096   889  
Refund liabilities  987   942  
     
  2,083   1,831  
  
Note 37. Current liabilities - liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Trade payables  -    1,441  
Other payables  -    62  
Accrued expenses  -    38  
Bank loans  4,000   -   
Provisions - employee benefits  -    592  
Provisions - lease make good  -    30  
     
  4,000   2,163  
  
The liabilities as at 31 December 2022 represents the bank loan secured over the vacant land currently for sale. Refer to 
note 17 for further information. 
  
The liabilities as at 31 December 2021 represent the liabilities of RSM Wholesaling International Limited (incorporated in 
Neighbourland), a subsidiary of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited, which was sold on [date]. Refer to note 9 
for further information. 
  
Note 38. Non-current liabilities - borrowings 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Bank loans  16,000   16,000  
Convertible notes payable  2,978   2,967  
     
  18,978   18,967  
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
On [date] the consolidated entity issued 30,000 7.5% convertible notes, with a face value of CU100 each, for total proceeds 
of CU3,000,000. Interest is paid quarterly in arrears at a rate of 7.5% per annum based on the face value. The notes are 
convertible into ordinary shares of the parent entity, at any time at the option of the holder, or repayable on [date]. The 
conversion rate is 45 ordinary shares for each note held, which is based on the market price per share at the date of the 
issue of the notes (CU2.21), but subject to adjustments for reconstructions of equity. 
  
Total transactions costs were CU55,000 at the date of issue and unamortised transaction costs of CU22,000 (2021: 
CU33,000) have been offset against the convertible notes payable liability. 
  
The convertible notes are unsecured. 
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Total secured liabilities 
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Bank overdraft  -    1,273  
Bank loans  24,500   18,000  
     
  24,500   19,273  
  
Assets pledged as security 
The bank overdraft and loans are secured by first mortgages over the consolidated entity's land and buildings. 
  
Financing arrangements 
Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Total facilities     

Bank overdraft  5,000   5,000  
Bank loans  40,000   25,000  
  45,000   30,000  

     
Used at the reporting date     

Bank overdraft  -    1,273  
Bank loans  24,500   18,000  
  24,500   19,273  

     
Unused at the reporting date     

Bank overdraft  5,000   3,727  
Bank loans  15,500   7,000  
  20,500   10,727  

  
Note 39. Non-current liabilities - lease liabilities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Lease liability  301,714   322,745  
  
Refer to note 48 for further information on financial instruments. 
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Note 40. Non-current liabilities - deferred tax 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to:     
     
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  15   -   
Prepayments  302   228  
Net fair value gain on investment properties  270   450  
Contract assets  184   89  
Customer acquisition costs  594   537  
Customer fulfilment costs  347   317  
Right of return assets  201   185  
Exploration and evaluation  439   396  

     
  2,352   2,202  

     
Amounts recognised in equity:     

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment  1,950   1,950  
Revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  15   -   

     
  1,965   1,950  

     
Deferred tax liability  4,317   4,152  
     
Movements:     
Opening balance  4,152   1,884  
Charged to profit or loss (note 8)  150   1,668  
Charged to equity (note 8)  15   600  
     
Closing balance  4,317   4,152  
  
Note 41. Non-current liabilities - employee benefits 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Employee benefits  6,318   6,528  
  
Note 42. Non-current liabilities - provisions 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Lease make good  1,445   1,040  
Rehabilitation  13,444   12,121  
     
  14,889   13,161  
  
Lease make good 
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the consolidated 
entity at the end of the respective lease terms. 
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Rehabilitation 
The provision represents the present value of estimated costs for future rehabilitation of land explored or mined by the 
consolidated entity at the end of the exploration or mining activity. 
  
Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 
  
  Lease   
  make good  Rehabilitation 
Consolidated - 2022  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Carrying amount at the start of the year  1,040  12,121 
Additional provisions recognised  550  1,323 
Amounts transferred to current  (230)  - 
Unwinding of discount  85  - 
     
Carrying amount at the end of the year  1,445  13,444 
  
Note 43. Equity - issued capital 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 
  Shares  Shares  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  146,910,000  146,800,000  182,953   182,678  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares  Issue price  CU'000 
         
Balance  1 January 2021  111,800,000    104,922 
Issue of shares  [date]  35,000,000  CU2.25   78,750 
Share issue transaction costs, net of tax  [date]  -  CU0.00  (994) 
         
Balance  31 December 2021  146,800,000    182,678 
Issue of shares on the exercise of options  [date]  10,000  CU2.50   25 
Issue of shares to key management personnel  [date]  100,000  CU2.50   250 
         
Balance  31 December 2022  146,910,000    182,953 
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Capital risk management 
The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
  
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
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In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
  
The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all 
capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial 
year. 
  
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 31 December 2021 Annual Report. 
  
Note 44. Equity - reserves 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Revaluation surplus reserve  4,095   4,095  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve  35   -   
Foreign currency reserve  -    (512) 
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges  (85)  (75) 
     
  4,045   3,508  
  
Revaluation surplus reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings, excluding investment 
properties. 
  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 
  
Foreign currency reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations to Internationaland currency units. It is also used to recognise gains and losses on hedges of the net investments 
in foreign operations. 
  
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges 
The reserve is used to recognise the effective portion of the gain or loss of cash flow hedge instruments that is determined 
to be an effective hedge. 
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Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  

 

 

Revaluation 

 Financial 
assets at fair 

value 

 

Foreign 

 

  

 

 
  surplus  through OCI  currency  Hedging  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
           
Balance at 1 January 2021  2,835  -  (294)  (48)  2,493 
Revaluation - gross  1,800  -  -  (38)  1,762 
Deferred tax  (540)  -  -  11  (529) 
Foreign currency translation  -  -  (218)  -  (218) 
           
Balance at 31 December 2021  4,095  -  (512)  (75)  3,508 
Revaluation - gross  -  50  -  (15)  35 
Deferred tax  -  (15)  -  5  (10) 
Foreign currency translation  -  -  (257)  -  (257) 
Derecognition of reserve  -  -  769  -  769 
           
Balance at 31 December 2022  4,095  35  -  (85)  4,045 
  
Note 45. Equity - retained profits 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year  11,472   13,568  
Profit after income tax expense for the year  27,126   15,520  
Dividends paid (note 47)  (29,383)  (17,616) 
     
Retained profits at the end of the financial year  9,215   11,472  
  
Note 46. Equity - non-controlling interest 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Issued capital  16,000   16,000  
Reserves  455   455  
Retained profits  908   766  
     
  17,363   17,221  
  
The non-controlling interest has a 10% (2021: 10%) equity holding in RSM Copper Limited. 
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Note 47. Equity - dividends 
  
Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2021: 31 December 2020) of 15 cents 
(2021: 8 cents) per ordinary share 

 
22,037  

 
11,744  

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 31 December 2021) of 5 
cents (2021: 4 cents) per ordinary share 

 
7,346  

 
5,872  

     
  29,383   17,616  
  
On [date] the directors declared a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 of 17 cents per ordinary share to be 
paid on [date], a total estimated distribution of CU24,975,000 based on the number of ordinary shares on issue as at [date]. 
  
Note 48. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange 
contracts to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other 
speculative instruments. The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, 
ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk. 
  
Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives ('finance') under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
('the Board'). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity and appropriate 
procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the consolidated entity's 
operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 
  
Market risk 
  
Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency 
risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 
  
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting. 
  
In order to protect against exchange rate movements, the consolidated entity has entered into forward foreign exchange 
contracts. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted cash flows for the ensuing financial year. Management 
has a risk management policy to hedge between 30% and 80% of anticipated foreign currency transactions for the 
subsequent 4 months. 
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The maturity, settlement amounts and the average contractual exchange rates of the consolidated entity's outstanding 
forward foreign exchange contracts at the reporting date were as follows: 
  

 
 Sell Internationaland 

currency units Average exchange rates 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000       
         
Buy US dollars         
Maturity:         
0 - 3 months  121  89  0.9123  0.8132 
3 - 6 months  34  23  0.9057  0.8294 
         
Buy Euros         
Maturity:         
0 - 3 months  274  207  0.6342  0.5861 
3 - 6 months  86  49  0.6355  0.6082 
         
Buy Neighbourland dollars         
Maturity:         
0 - 3 months  182  163  1.2345  1.2643 
3 - 6 months  107  71  1.2407  1.2847 
  
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date were as follows: 
  
  Assets Liabilities 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
US dollars  35  18  64  69 
Euros  7  21  82  74 
Neighbourland dollars  45  32  61  52 
         
  87  71  207  195 
  
The consolidated entity had net liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of CU120,000 (assets of CU87,000 less liabilities 
of CU207,000) as at 31 December 2022 (2021: CU124,000 (assets of CU71,000 less liabilities of CU195,000)). Based on 
this exposure, had the Internationaland currency unit weakened by 10%/strengthened by 5% (2021: weakened by 
5%/strengthened by 5%) against these foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the consolidated entity's 
profit before tax for the year would have been CU12,000 lower/CU6,000 higher (2021: CU6,000 lower/CU6,000 higher) and 
equity would have been CU8,000 lower/CU4,000 higher (2021: CU4,000 lower/CU4,000 higher). The percentage change is 
the expected overall volatility of the significant currencies, which is based on management’s assessment of reasonable 
possible fluctuations taking into consideration movements over the last 6 months each year and the spot rate at each 
reporting date. The actual foreign exchange loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 was CU13,000 (2021: loss of 
CU6,000). 
  
Price risk 
The consolidated entity is exposed to commodity price risk arises from copper and other metals held as inventory. 
  
The policy of the consolidated entity is to sell copper and other metals at the spot price and it has not entered into any 
hedging contracts. The consolidated entity's revenues were exposed to fluctuation in the price of these metals. If the average 
selling price of copper of CU3.86 (2021: CU4.40) for the financial year had increased/decreased by 10% the change in the 
profit before income tax for the consolidated group would have been an increase /decrease of CU43,478,000 (2021: 
CU40,470,000). 
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If there was a 10% increase or decrease in market price of copper, the net realisable value of inventory on hand would 
increase/(decrease) by CU6,869,000 (2021: CU8,990,000). As copper and other metals on hand are held at cost there would 
be no impact on profit or loss. 
  
Interest rate risk 
The consolidated entity's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates 
expose the consolidated entity to interest rate risk. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the consolidated entity to fair 
value risk. The policy is to maintain approximately 60% of current borrowings at fixed rates using interest rate swaps to 
achieve this when necessary. 
  
The consolidated entity's bank loans outstanding, totalling CU24,500,000 (2021: CU18,000,000), are principal and interest 
payment loans. Monthly cash outlays of approximately CU170,000 (2021: CU120,000) per month are required to service the 
interest payments. An official increase/decrease in interest rates of 100 (2021: 100) basis points would have an 
adverse/favourable effect on profit before tax of CU245,000 (2021: CU180,000) per annum. The percentage change is based 
on the expected volatility of interest rates using market data and analysts forecasts. In addition, minimum principal 
repayments of CU8,500,000 (2021: CU2,000,000) are due during the year ending 31 December 2023 (2021: 31 December 
2022). 
  
Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, 
confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The consolidated entity obtains guarantees where appropriate to 
mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to 
the financial statements. The consolidated entity does not hold any collateral. 
  
The consolidated entity has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade 
receivables through the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are 
considered representative across all customers of the consolidated entity based on recent sales experience, historical 
collection rates and forward-looking information that is available. As disclosed in note 11 due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic, the calculation of expected credit losses has been revised as at 31 December 2022 and rates have increased in 
each category up to 6 months overdue. 
  
The consolidated entity has a credit risk exposure with a major Internationaland copper exporter, which as at 31 December 
2022 owed the consolidated entity CU10,680,000 (76% of trade receivables) (2021: CU9,510,000 (74% of trade 
receivables)). Despite the impact that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had on this major Internationaland copper 
exporter, this balance was within its terms of trade and no impairment was made as at 31 December 2022. There are no 
guarantees against this receivable but management closely monitors the receivable balance on a monthly basis and is in 
regular contact with this customer to mitigate risk. 
  
Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 1 year. 
  
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
  
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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Financing arrangements 
Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Bank overdraft  5,000   3,727  
Bank loans  15,500   7,000  
  20,500   10,727  
  
The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. Subject to the 
continuance of satisfactory credit ratings, the bank loan facilities may be drawn at any time and have an average maturity of 
3 years (2021: 4 years). 
  
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2022  %  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  16,993  -  -  -  16,993 
Other payables  -  1,883  -  -  -  1,883 
             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Bank loans  8.20%   10,161  9,464  7,808  -  27,433 
Convertible notes payable  7.50%   225  3,004  -  -  3,229 
Lease liability  5.03%   37,574  37,542  112,415  290,764  478,295 
Total non-derivatives    66,836  50,010  120,223  290,764  527,833 
             
Derivatives             
Forward foreign exchange 
contracts net settled 

 
- 

 
122 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
122 

Total derivatives    122  -  -  -  122 
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 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2021  %  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  15,711  -  -  -  15,711 
Other payables  -  1,628  -  -  -  1,628 
             
Interest-bearing - variable             
Bank overdraft  12.80%   1,355  -  -  -  1,355 
             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Bank loans  8.20%   3,394  9,464  7,972  -  20,830 
Convertible notes payable  7.50%   225  225  3,004  -  3,454 
Lease liability  5.03%   37,107  37,574  112,523  328,200  515,404 
Total non-derivatives    59,420  47,263  123,499  328,200  558,382 
             
Derivatives             
Forward foreign exchange 
contracts net settled 

 
- 

 
107 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
107 

Total derivatives    107  -  -  -  107 
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
  
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
  
Hedge accounting 
The effects of hedge accounting on the statement of financial position at the reporting date were as follows: 
  
  Nominal  Carrying  Change in  Hedging  Cost of 
  amount  amount  fair value  reserve  reserve 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
           
Forward foreign exchange contracts for 
purchases at 31 December 2021 

 
602 

 
107 

 
(9) 

 
(75) 

 
(20) 

Forward foreign exchange contracts for 
purchases at 31 December 2022 

 
804 

 
122 

 
4 

 
(85) 

 
(19) 
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Movements in hedging reserves by risk category during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  
  Spot  Value of  Cost of   
  component  options  reserve  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Balance at 1 January 2021  (76)  46  (18)  (48) 
Change in fair value of hedging instrument recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
(73) 

 
64 

 
- 

 
(9) 

Costs of hedging deferred and recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(17) 

 
(17) 

Reclassified to the cost of inventory - recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
(24) 

 
- 

 
14 

 
(10) 

Reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss  (2)  -  -  (2) 
Deferred tax  29  (19)  1  11 
         
Balance at 31 December 2021  (146)  91  (20)  (75) 
Change in fair value of hedging instrument recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
(8) 

 
12 

 
- 

 
4 

Costs of hedging deferred and recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(15) 

 
(15) 

Reclassified to the cost of inventory - recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
(20) 

 
- 

 
16 

 
(4) 

Deferred tax  9  (4)  -  5 
         
Balance at 31 December 2022  (165)  99  (19)  (85) 
  
Note 49. Fair value measurement 
  
Fair value hierarchy 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three 
level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 
  
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Consolidated - 2022  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Assets         
Ordinary shares at fair value through profit or loss  360  -  -  360 
Ordinary shares at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

 
- 

 
- 

 
170 

 
170 

Investment properties  -  -  46,900  46,900 
Land and buildings  -  -  58,500  58,500 
Total assets  360  -  105,570  105,930 
         
Liabilities         
Forward foreign exchange contracts  -  122  -  122 
Total liabilities  -  122  -  122 
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  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Consolidated - 2021  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Assets         
Investment properties  -  -  47,500  47,500 
Land and buildings  -  -  58,500  58,500 
Total assets  -  -  106,000  106,000 
         
Liabilities         
Forward foreign exchange contracts  -  107  -  107 
Total liabilities  -  107  -  107 
  
Assets and liabilities held for sale are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 
  
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
  
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature. 
  
The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities. 
  
Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 2 and level 3 
Unquoted investments have been valued using a discounted cash flow model. 
  
The basis of the valuation of investment properties is fair value. The investment properties are revalued annually based on 
independent assessments by a member of the [NAME] having recent experience in the location and category of investment 
property being valued. Valuations are based on current prices in an active market for similar properties of the same location 
and condition, subject to similar leases and takes into consideration occupancy rates and returns on investment. 
  
The basis of the valuation of land and buildings is fair value. The land and buildings were last revalued on 31 December 
2021 based on independent assessments by a member of the Internationaland Property Institute having recent experience 
in the location and category of land and buildings being valued. The directors do not believe that there has been a material 
movement in fair value since the revaluation date. Valuations are based on current prices for similar properties in the same 
location and condition. 
  
Derivative financial instruments have been valued using quoted market rates. This valuation technique maximises the use 
of observable market data where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific estimates. 
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Level 3 assets and liabilities 
Movements in level 3 assets and liabilities during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  

 

 Ordinary 
shares at fair 

value 

 

Investment  

 

Land and 

 

 
  through OCI  properties  buildings  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Balance at 1 January 2021  -  46,000  56,500  102,500 
Gains recognised in profit or loss  -  1,500  -  1,500 
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income  -  -  2,000  2,000 
         
Balance at 31 December 2021  -  47,500  58,500  106,000 
Losses recognised in profit or loss  -  (600)  -  (600) 
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income  50  -  -  50 
Additions  200  -  -  200 
Disposals  (80)  -  -  (80) 
         
Balance at 31 December 2022  170  46,900  58,500  105,570 
  
The level 3 assets and liabilities unobservable inputs and sensitivity are as follows: 
  
      Range    
Description  Unobservable inputs  (weighted average)  Sensitivity 
       
Ordinary shares at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

 Growth rate  2.5% to 3.5% (3.0%)  0.25% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU5,000 

  Discount rate  8.0% to 11.0% (9.5%)  1.00% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU14,000 

Investment properties  Rental yield  7.5% to 9.0% (8.5%)  0.75% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU352,000 

  Rental growth  1.25% to 2.0% (1.75%)  0.25% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU117,000 

  Long-term vacancy rate  5.0% to 9.0% (7.5%)  0.75% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU276,000 

  Discount rate  4.0% to 6.0% (5.25%)  0.5% change would increase/decrease fair value 
by CU57,000 

Land and buildings  Rental yield  6.0% to 8.0% (7.5%)  0.75% change would increase/decrease fair 
value by CU440,000 

  Discount rate  5.0% to 7.0% (6.25%)  0.5% change would increase/decrease fair value 
by CU61,000 
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Note 50. Key management personnel disclosures 
  
Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
is set out below: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Short-term employee benefits  1,618   1,498  
Post-employment benefits  107   101  
Long-term benefits  10   25  
Share-based payments  253   1  
     
  1,988   1,625  
  
Note 51. Contingent assets 
  
RSM Copper Limited, a subsidiary, has an outstanding insurance claim with respect to inventory that was damaged in the 
Cityville floods that occurred during the financial year. An assessment is currently being undertaken by the insurer as to 
whether it was the cause of a flood or rising waters, which will affect the payout. Because the insurance proceeds are not 
virtually certain, no asset has been recognised within these financial statements. The inventory of approximately CU400,000 
has been written off during the current financial year. 
  
Note 52. Contingent liabilities 
  
During the financial year there was a work related accident involving a member of staff. Although the investigation is still in 
progress, the directors are of the opinion, based on independent legal advice, that the consolidated entity will not be found 
to be at fault and any compensation will be covered by the consolidated entity's insurance policy. Accordingly, no provision 
has been provided within these financial statements. 
  
The consolidated entity has given bank guarantees as at 31 December 2022 of CU3,105,000 (2021: CU2,844,000) to various 
landlords. 
  
The consolidated entity has given performance guarantees to the Minister for State Development as at 31 December 2022 of 
CU1,400,000 (2021: CU1,280,000). 
  
Native title claims have been made with respect to areas which include tenements in which the consolidated entity has 
interests. The consolidated entity is unable to determine the prospects for success or otherwise of the claims and, in any 
event, whether or not and to what extent the claims may significantly affect the consolidated entity or its projects. 
  
Note 53. Commitments 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Capital commitments     
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:     
Investment properties  170   170  
Property, plant and equipment  1,165   1,145  
Intangible assets  160   -   
  
Note 54. Related party transactions 
  
Parent entity 
RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited is the parent entity. 
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Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 55. 
  
Joint ventures 
Interests in joint ventures are set out in note 56. 
  
Joint operations 
Interests in joint operations are set out in note 57. 
  
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 50. 
  
Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Payment for goods and services:     
Payment for services from joint venture  3,397   3,235  
Payment for marketing services from BE Promotions Limited (director-related entity of Brad 
Example) 

 
81  

 
68  

  
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Current payables:     
Trade payables to joint venture  361   346  
Trade payables to BE Promotions Limited (director-related entity of Brad Example)  7   6  
  
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
  
Note 55. Interests in subsidiaries 
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned subsidiaries 
in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
  
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2022  2021 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
RSM Mt Sia Limited  Internationaland  100.00%   100.00%  
RSM Explore Limited  Internationaland  100.00%   100.00%  
RSM Wholesaling International Limited  Neighbourland  -  100.00%  
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiary with non-
controlling interests in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
  
      Parent Non-controlling interest 

 
 Principal place of 
business / 

 
 

 Ownership 
interest 

 Ownership 
interest 

 Ownership 
interest 

 Ownership 
interest 

  Country of    2022  2021  2022  2021 
Name  incorporation  Principal activities  %  %  %  % 
             
RSM Copper 
Limited * 

 
Internationaland 

 
Copper mining 

 
90.00%  

 
90.00%  

 
10.00%  

 
10.00%  

  
*  the non-controlling interests hold 25% of the voting rights of RSM Copper Limited 
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Summarised financial information 
Summarised financial information of the subsidiary with non-controlling interests that are material to the consolidated entity 
are set out below: 
  
  RSM Copper Limited 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Summarised statement of financial position     
Current assets  48,800  50,443 
Non-current assets  163,318  162,342 
     
Total assets  212,118  212,785 
     
Current liabilities  25,735  22,452 
Non-current liabilities  18,183  23,047 
     
Total liabilities  43,918  45,499 
     
Net assets  168,200  167,286 
     
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income     
Revenue  231,564  219,870 
Expenses  (229,506)  (216,649) 
     
Profit before income tax expense  2,058  3,221 
Income tax expense  (644)  (935) 
     
Profit after income tax expense  1,414  2,286 
     
Other comprehensive income  -  1,400 
     
Total comprehensive income  1,414  3,686 
     
Statement of cash flows     
Net cash from operating activities  9,262  12,284 
Net cash used in investing activities  (7,962)  (11,212) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (2,500)  (500) 
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (1,200)  572 
     
Other financial information     
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  142  229 
Accumulated non-controlling interests at the end of reporting period  17,363  17,221 
  
Significant restrictions 
RSM Copper Limited cannot apply for further tenements without the prior consent of the non-controlling interests. 
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Note 56. Interests in joint ventures 
  
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to joint ventures that 
are material to the consolidated entity are set out below: 
  
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2022  2021 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Mt Sia United  Internationaland  35.00%   35.00%  
  
Summarised financial information 
  
  Mt Sia United 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Summarised statement of financial position     
Cash and cash equivalents  4,241  4,721 
Other current assets  24,753  22,085 
Non-current assets  205,203  198,240 
     
Total assets  234,197  225,046 
     
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)  15,203  11,344 
Other current liabilities  4,237  5,142 
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)  113,879  116,477 
Non-current liabilities  3,187  3,566 
     
Total liabilities  136,506  136,529 
     
Net assets  97,691  88,517 
     
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income     
Revenue  109,248  97,469 
Interest revenue  165  178 
Other revenue  293  304 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (13,647)  (14,216) 
Other expenses  (76,810)  (66,482) 
Finance costs  (6,144)  (6,391) 
     
Profit before income tax  13,105  10,862 
Income tax expense  (3,931)  (3,259) 
     
Profit after income tax  9,174  7,603 
     
Other comprehensive income  -  - 
     
Total comprehensive income  9,174  7,603 
     
Reconciliation of the consolidated entity's carrying amount     
Opening carrying amount  30,981  28,320 
Share of profit after income tax  3,211  2,661 
     
Closing carrying amount  34,192  30,981 
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Contingent liabilities 
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Share of bank guarantees  276   266  
  
Commitments 
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:     
Share of capital commitments  175   74  
  
Significant restrictions 
Mt Sia United must reduce its bank loans to under CU50,000,000 and achieve pre-determined profit targets before any cash 
dividends can be distributed. 
  
Note 57. Interests in joint operations 
  
The consolidated entity has recognised its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations. 
These have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate classifications. Information relating to joint 
operations that are material to the consolidated entity are set out below: 
  
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2022  2021 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Osbourne Copper  Internationaland  15.00%   15.00%  
  
Note 58. Events after the reporting period 
  
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive for the consolidated 
entity up to 31 December 2022, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting 
date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Internationaland Government and 
other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic 
stimulus that may be provided. 
  
Apart from the dividend declared as disclosed in note 47, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 
2022 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those 
operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  
Note 59. Non-cash investing and financing activities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Additions to the right-of-use assets  5,521   6,228  
Leasehold improvements - lease make good  550   -   
Shares issued under employee share plan  250   -   
     
  6,321   6,228  
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Note 60. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
  
  Bank  Convertible  Lease   
  loans  notes  liability  Total 
Consolidated  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000  CU'000 
         
Balance at 1 January 2021  112,000  2,956  358,977  473,933 
Net cash used in financing activities  (94,000)  -  (21,555)  (115,555) 
Acquisition of leases  -  -  6,228  6,228 
Other changes  -  11  -  11 
         
Balance at 31 December 2021  18,000  2,967  343,650  364,617 
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  6,500  -  (25,385)  (18,885) 
Acquisition of leases  -  -  5,521  5,521 
Other changes  -  11  -  11 
         
Balance at 31 December 2022  24,500  2,978  323,786  351,264 
  
Note 61. Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations     
Profit after income tax  26,130   14,435  
Non-controlling interest  (142)  (229) 
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited 

 
25,988  

 
14,206  

Interest savings on convertible notes  158   158  
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited used in calculating diluted earnings per share 

 
26,146  

 
14,364  

  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  17.69  10.08 
Diluted earnings per share  17.64  10.09 
  
  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Earnings per share for profit from discontinued operations     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited 

 
1,138  

 
1,314  

  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  0.77  0.93 
Diluted earnings per share  0.77  0.92 
  



RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2022 
 

  
Note 61. Earnings per share (continued) 
 

  

  
61 

  Consolidated 
  2022  2021 
  CU'000  CU'000 
     
Earnings per share for profit     
Profit after income tax  27,268   15,749  
Non-controlling interest  (142)  (229) 
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited 

 
27,126  

 
15,520  

Interest savings on convertible notes  158   158  
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of RSM IFRS Listed Exploration and Mining 
Limited used in calculating diluted earnings per share 

 
27,284  

 
15,678  

  
  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  18.47  11.01 
Diluted earnings per share  18.41  11.02 
  
  Number  Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  146,882,904  140,950,685 
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:     

Options over ordinary shares  565  385 
Convertible notes  1,350,000  1,350,000 

     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  148,233,469  142,301,070 
  
Note 62. Share-based payments 
  
On [date], 100,000 shares were issued to key management personnel at an issue price of CU2.50 per share and a total 
transactional value of CU250,000. 
  
A share option plan has been established by the consolidated entity and approved by shareholders at a general meeting, 
whereby the consolidated entity may, at the discretion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, grant options over 
ordinary shares in the company to certain key management personnel of the consolidated entity. The options are issued for 
nil consideration and are granted in accordance with performance guidelines established by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. 
  
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 
  
2022                    
         Balance at         Expired/   Balance at  
      Exercise   the start of         forfeited/  the end of  
Grant date  Expiry date  price  the year  Granted  Exercised   other  the year 
               
01/04/2020  31/03/2022  CU2.50   10,000  -  (10,000)  -  - 
01/04/2022  31/03/2026  CU3.00   -  17,500  -  -  17,500 
      10,000  17,500  (10,000)  -  17,500 
  
Weighted average exercise price  CU2.50   CU3.00   CU2.50   CU0.00  CU3.00  
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2021                    
         Balance at         Expired/   Balance at  
      Exercise   the start of         forfeited/  the end of  
Grant date  Expiry date  price  the year  Granted  Exercised   other  the year 
               
01/04/2020  31/03/2022  CU2.50   10,000  -  -  -  10,000 
      10,000  -  -  -  10,000 
  
Weighted average exercise price  CU2.50   CU0.00  CU0.00  CU0.00  CU2.50  
  
Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year: 
  
      2022  2021 
Grant date  Expiry date  Number  Number 
       
01/04/2020  31/03/2022  -  10,000 
       
    -  10,000 
  
The weighted average share price during the financial year was CU2.66 (2021: CU2.34). 
  
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 3.25 years (2021: 
0.25 years). 
  
For the options granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at the 
grant date, are as follows: 
  
      Share price  Exercise  Expected  Dividend  Risk-free  Fair value 
Grant date  Expiry date  at grant date  price  volatility  yield  interest rate  at grant date 
               
01/04/2022  31/03/2026  CU2.61   CU3.00   18.00%   4.75%   5.93%   CU0.489  
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